AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE TOWN OF NARRAGANSETT AND LOCAL 1589
INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE FIGHTERS AFL-CIO-CLC
JULY 1, 2013 TO JUNE 30, 2016



Table of Contents

AGREEMENT	4
PREAMBLE	4
ARTICLE I	4.
Section 1. Recognition	
Section 2. Employment Security	
Section 3. Union Security	
Section 4. Dues Deduction	
Section`5. Time Off For Union Activities	
ARTICLE II	
Section 1. Management Rights	
ARTICLE III	
Section 1. Vacancies In Privates' Ranks	
Section 2. Promotions	
Section 3. Details To Other Departments Prohibited	
Section 4. Permanent Status	
Section 5. Hours	
Section 6A. Overtime	
Section 6B. Seminar Attendance	
Section 6C. Compensation Time	
Section 6d. Educational Incentive	
Section 7. Call-Back Pay	
Section 8. Standby	
Section 9. Paid Holidays	
Section 10. Vacations	
Section 11. Leave	
Section 12. Sickness Or Injury	
Section 13. Clothing Allowance	
Section 14. Health And Welfare	
Section 15. Manpower	
Section 16. Civic Details	
Section 17. Legal Assistance And Indemnification	
Section 18. Reimbursement Of Pay And Medical Expenses	
Section 19. Hearing Examination	
Section 20. Military Leave	27
ARTICLE IV	27
Section 1. Salaries	27
Section 2. Pension	
ARTICLE V	
Cartin 1 Pid Coston	34 21
Section 1. Bid SystemSection 2. Testing Of Aerial Devices	
ARTICLE VI	
Section 1. Grievance Procedure	
ARTICLE VII	
Section 1. No Strike Clause	37
ARTICLE VIII	38
Section 1. Duration Of Agreement	
DOUGOT AT PATAROTE OF MATOR AND	

Section 2.	Continuation Of Agreement	38
December 2.		

AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 149 of the Public Laws of the State of Rhode Island, 1961, entitled "An Act to Provide for Settlement of Disputes Concerning Wages or Rates of Pay and Other Terms and Conditions of Employment of Employees of Fire Departments", this Agreement is made and entered into this day of December 10, 2013 by and between the TOWN OF NARRAGANSETT and LOCAL 1589, INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE FIGHTERS, AFL-CIO-CLC.

PREAMBLE

Pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 149 of the Public Laws of Rhode Island, 1961, entitled "An Act to Provide for Settlement of Disputes Concerning Wages or Rates of Pay and Other Terms and Conditions of Employment of Employees of Fire Departments", the Town of Narragansett recognizes that the paid full time fire fighters of the Town of Narragansett have the Statutory right to bargain collectively with the Town of Narragansett and to be represented by an organization in such collective bargaining as to wages, hours, rates of pay, working conditions and other terms and conditions of employment. Nothing herein contained shall be construed to limit the right of the Town of Narragansett to regulate, manage and control the Fire Department of the Town except as modified by the terms of this contract and except as specifically directed by said Chapter 149 of the Public Laws of Rhode Island, 1961, reference to which has been previously made. This Agreement is subject to the provisions of said Chapter 149 of the Public Laws of Rhode Island, 1961, wherein the fire fighters who are subject to its terms shall have no right to engage in any work stoppage, slowdown or strike.

ARTICLE I

Section 1. Recognition

The Town of Narragansett recognizes Local 1589, International Association of Fire Fighters, AFL-CIO-CLC, as the exclusive bargaining agent for all paid full-time uniformed employees of the Narragansett Fire Department, for the purpose of collective bargaining and entering into agreements relative to wages, salaries, hours, working conditions and other terms and conditions of employment. The rights of the Town of Narragansett and employees of the Narragansett Fire Department shall be respected, and the

provisions of this Agreement shall be observed for the orderly settlement of all questions.

Section 2. Employment Security

The Town of Narragansett agrees not to discharge or discriminate in any way against any employee of the Fire Department for membership or legitimate activities in Local 1589.

Section 3. Union Security

A. Any member of the Fire Department covered by this Agreement who is a member of Local 1589 as of July 1, 1979 and any member of the Fire Department who becomes a member of Local 1589 during the term of this Agreement, shall remain a member of Local 1589 for the duration of this Agreement.

B. All paid, full-time uniformed employees of the Fire Department of the Town of Narragansett covered by this Agreement, except the Chief, who are not members of Local 1589, International Association of Fire Fighters, AFL-CIO-CLC, on the effective date hereof, shall not be required to become members during the term of this Agreement, but they and any new employee who does not become a member within thirty days of employment shall be required, as a condition of employment, to pay to the Union each month an agency service fee, in an amount equal to the regular monthly dues, as a contribution to the costs of negotiating and administering the Agreement.

Section 4. Dues Deduction

The Town of Narragansett shall deduct Union dues and agency service fees upon receipt of authorization cards from employees who desire to have the Town deduct such monies provided for in Section 3. The Town shall forward the dues and service fees deducted to the treasurer of Local 1589 by the 15th day of the month following the month of deduction. The Union shall indemnify the Town and hold it harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits, and other forms of liability that may arise out of, or by reason of, any action taken by the Town for the purpose of complying with the provisions of Section IV. The Union agrees that it shall give the Town at least thirty (30) days notice of any change in the amount of dues and service charges to be deducted from the employees' pay.

Section 5. Time Off For Union Activities

- A. All employees covered by this agreement who are officers of Local 1589 or who are appointed as members of Local 1589 Collective Bargaining Committee, shall be allowed time off with pay for all official union business with the Town of Narragansett or their representatives. There shall be no more than three (3) members of Local 1589 who shall be allowed time off with pay at any one time for all official union business with the Town of Narragansett or their representatives.
- B. The President, Vice President, or Secretary-Treasurer of Local 1589 shall be allowed time off with pay to attend all meetings of the Rhode Island State Association of Fire Fighters, AFL-CIO, in addition, the President, Vice President, or Secretary Treasurer shall be allowed time off with pay, which period is not to exceed a total of four (4) working days each, to attend the Rhode Island State Association of Fire Fighters Convention, the New England Conference of Fire Fighters, the Rhode Island AFL-CIO Convention, and the International Association of Fire Fighters National Convention, in each contract year without requirement to make up said time.

ARTICLE II

Section 1. Management Rights

The Town of Narragansett retains the right, subject to the provisions of this Agreement, to exercise the regular and customary functions of management, including but not limited to, the right to hire and layoff employees, to determine competency, to discipline or discharge for cause, and, in general, to maintain discipline, order and efficiency in the operation of the Narragansett Fire Department. It also reserves the right to issue, through the Town Council and/or the Director of Public Safety, Rules and Regulations, as it may deem necessary for the proper conduct of the Fire Department. However, the exercise of any or all such rights, including the issuance of Rules and Regulations, shall not conflict with or violate any of the provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE III

Section 1. Vacancies In Privates' Ranks

Vacancies in the Privates' ranks shall be filled within sixty (60) workdays. A vacancy shall be deemed to be created by death, resignation, retirement, vacancies immediately preceding retirement - supported by a written intent to retire and buy back sick leave, discharge for cause and other situations, but shall not be construed to apply to a newly created position until after the position has been filled, nor to any situation involving a reduction in the working force.

Section 2. Promotions

- A. Vacancies in Officers' ranks below the rank of Chief of the Department shall be filled from the uniformed department.
- B. All promotions to the Officers' ranks above that of a private, except that of Chief of the Department, shall be on the basis of competitive examination.
- C. No examination for promotional purposes shall be given with out notice of such examination having been posted on the bulletin board at the Fire Department at least sixty (60) calendar days prior to the date set for such examination. Such notice shall set forth the source materials to be used for said examination, and any examination question using materials other than the source materials specified shall be invalid and of no force and effect. The written examination shall be furnished within five (5) days to the President of Local 1589 or his/her designee after it's administration with specific reference to the source of each examination question.
- D. There shall be in effect at all times a promotional list for each officer's rank, except that of Chief of the Department. Each promotional list shall remain in effect for a period of two (2) years from the date of certification of said list. The foregoing list shall be effective at the expiration of the current promotional list. Examination shall be given prior to the establishment of the new two (2) year list.
- E. In order for a Private to be eligible for examination and promotion to the rank of Lieutenant, he/she will have served at least three (3) years

in the Narragansett Fire Department, including his/her probationary period at the expiration date of the present eligibility list. In order for a Fire Lieutenant to be eligible for examination and promotion to Fire Captain, he/she will have served at least three (3) years in the Narragansett Fire Department in the rank of Fire Lieutenant, at the expiration date of the present eligibility list. In order for a Fire Captain to be eligible for examination and promotion to Fire Prevention Officer, he/she will have served at least three (3) years in the Narragansett Fire Department in the rank of Fire Captain at the expiration date of the present eligibility list. Additionally, for the rank of Fire Prevention Officer, if there are less than three (3) qualified Fire Captains who sign up to take the examination, then Fire Lieutenants who have served at least three (3) years in that rank in the Narragansett Fire Department shall be eligible to sign up for said examination. If there are less than three qualified Fire Captains or Fire Lieutenants, who sign up for said examination, then the Chief may open up the promotional examination for Fire Prevention Officer to include Privates who have served at least three (3) years in the Narragansett Fire Department.

F. Promotional examination procedure:

1. Physical: Pass/Fail

2. Written: 65% 3. Oral: 35%

4. Seniority:

One (1) point for each year on the Fire Department not to exceed 17 Points

Educational Development for Fire Science Degree: Credit will be given for one and only one of the following: One (1) point 30 College Credits in Fire Science Two (2) points for Associate Degree in Fire Science

Three (3) points for Bachelor Degree in Fire Science Total credit received shall not exceed three (3) pts.

- 6. A score of sixty (60%) percent or better must be earned on the written examination; then the oral examination can be taken, and the seniority points and educational points will be added.
- 7. All passing scores for the written examination shall be posted in order of finish with point totals within forty-eight (48) hours of the completion of said examination. All oral examination scores shall be posted in order of finish with point totals within forty-eight (48) hours of the completion of said examination.
- G. The Oral Board shall consist of three (3) persons. Two (2) shall be appointed by the Director of Public Safety with the advice and consent of the Town Council. One (1) shall be appointed by the President of Local 1589. They shall be active professional members of the Fire Service with the rank

of Captain or above. No member of said Board shall be a member of the Narragansett Fire Department or an employee of the Town of Narragansett.

- H. Any promotion shall be made from the top person on the promotional list.
- I. The promotional list is to be certified within forty-five (45) days of written examination. The vacancies shall be filled within fifteen (15) days of certification.

Section 3. Details To Other Departments Prohibited

- A. The Town of Narragansett agrees that any employee covered by this Agreement shall not be detailed to other departments in the Town, with the exception of federal, state or local emergency.
- B. Employees of the Narragansett Fire Department shall be required to check the depth of ice on any Town-owned body of water. Two (2) uniformed onduty persons shall be required to perform his duty. The determination of safe ice/not safe ice shall be the responsibility of the Director of Public Safety or his/her designee.
- C. Employees of the Narragansett Fire Department shall be required to shovel snow from all fire hydrants utilized by the Fire Department. One (1) uniformed on-duty man shall be required to perform this duty.

Section 4. Permanent Status

All employees of the Narragansett Fire Department with one (1) year or more of service and who are EMT Certified shall be eligible to be appointed to permanent status on the Fire Department after review of his/her case by the Chief of the Department in accordance with the provisions of the Town Charter. All new employees shall be considered as probationary employees and must successfully complete a probationary period of twelve (12) months before obtaining permanent employee status. All fire fighters hired after 7-1-83 shall become EMT Certified during their first twelve (12) months of employment and shall, as soon as practicable, become EMT-I and EMT-C trained. All probationary employees shall be evaluated by their supervising officer or officers at least quarterly during their probationary period. The Town shall pay the cost to have employees EMT Certified and to continue such certification, however, there shall be no lapse in certification by any employee, and any employee who does not maintain his/her certification, at

his/her own volition, shall be subject to immediate dismissal. certification requirement shall not be applicable for the Secretary of the Department. Any employee who is denied permanent status after completion of (12) months of service may have his/her case reviewed by the Director of Public Safety and the Chief of the Fire Department within twenty (20) days after said employee makes such request to the Director of Public Safety. Any employee requesting to have his/her case reviewed by the Director of Public Safety and the Chief of the Fire Department shall be entitled to be represented by counsel in any review or hearing before either the Director of Public Safety or the Chief of the Fire Department. It is understood by the parties that any review by the Town of an employee's case of denial of permanent status is only a review and does not constitute a grievance as provided in Article VI of the Agreement. It is understood by the parties that a probationary employee does not have any grievance or arbitration rights as provided for permanent employees covered by this agreement. During the probationary period a probationary employee may be disciplined, discharged, laid off, or otherwise dismissed at the sole discretion of the Town, and neither the reason for nor the disciplinary action or dismissal may be the subject of a grievance.

Section 5. Hours

The regular work schedule for all employees covered by this Agreement shall be an average workweek of forty-two (42) hours to be worked by a four (4)-platoon system as follows:

- (a) Two (2) consecutive ten-hour (10) days
- (b) Twenty-four (24) hours off
- (c) Two (2) consecutive fourteen-hour (14) nights
- (d) Ninety-six (96) hours off

The Fire Prevention Officer (if any) shall work an average workweek of forty (40) hours, to be worked Monday through Friday from 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. with one-half (1/2) hour for lunch. All variations from the normal work schedule shall be paid in accordance with Article III, Section 6A and 7 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement. The Secretary of the Department shall work a thirty-five (35) Hour workweek, to be worked Monday through Friday from 8:30 to 4 with one -half hour (1/2) for lunch. The Secretary will be paid time and one-half of the straight time rate of pay for work performed over seven (7) hours in one day and thirty-five (35) hours in one week.

The Chief of the Department shall have the authority to call an all hands drill three (3) times per year for which drills members shall be paid

at straight time rate of pay and shall not be subject to the provisions of Section 6A hereof. Employees on vacation or leave shall not be required to attend.

Section 6A. Overtime

All employees, with the exception of the Chief of the Department, who work in excess of ten (10) hours on any day tour or fourteen (14) hours on any night tour, or in the case of the Secretary in excess of the work schedule contained in this Agreement, shall be compensated for such excess hours at the overtime rate of pay as hereinafter set forth. In order to be entitled to overtime for any hour, said employee must work thirty (30) minutes or more. In the event that the overtime is less than thirty (30) minutes, there shall be no overtime compensation for such period of time, which is less than thirty (30) minutes. The hourly rate of overtime pay shall be one and one-half (1-1/2) times the straight time rate of pay.

Section 6B. Seminar Attendance

Any employee who is ordered to attend any seminar, course or training session while not on duty, shall be compensated at his/her straight time rate of pay, with a two (2) hour minimum. This shall be limited to a maximum of twenty (20) hours per calendar year. EMT-A or EMT-Cardiac school shall not be limited to the twenty (20) hour rule. All employees shall receive fourteen (14) days advance notice to the extent practicable from the start of any such course. Employees on vacation or leave shall not be required to attend any session. Any probationary member may be required to attend out of house classes required by this Agreement, Town Ordinance, or Rules and Regulations of the Department as part of his/her regular work schedule; provided, however, that said member shall be replaced by a permanent person at the pay of time and one-half (1-1/2) said replacement's straight time rate of pay only if needed to comply with minimum manning.

Section 6C. Compensation Time

Employees shall have the option of receiving compensatory time off in lieu of overtime pay to a maximum accumulation of thirty six (36) hours. Such compensatory time may not be taken on the night shift of July 3rd and the day shift of July 4th, Thanksgiving Day, the night shift of December 24th and the day shift of December 25th and on the night shift of December 31st and on the day shift of January 1st. Compensatory time shall be charged at a minimum of four (4) hours when used and must commence or terminate at the start or end

of a work shift. No more than four (4) employees of the department shall be permitted to take compensatory time on any one ten (10) hour day or fourteen (14) hour night. Such leave shall be granted on a first come, first served basis. The employee shall give notice forty-eight (48) hours prior to the shift on which compensatory time usage is sought. If an employee takes off more compensatory time than entitled to, the employee shall pay the time back to the department, when needed, at a mutually agreed upon date.

An employee must use all his remaining compensatory time prior to resignation or retirement. All compensatory time shall be earned at a rate of one and one-half (1½) times the number of hours worked. An employee shall be permitted to purchase any or all banked time with written notice to the Town by April 1st of each year at the straight time rate of pay with payment in the first pay period in July. The Town shall be permitted to purchase all banked compensatory time in excess of forty-eight (48) hours annually with written notice to the individual employee by April 1st of each year. This payment shall be at the straight time rate of pay and shall be paid in the first pay period of June.

All provisions of Section 6c. Compensation Time shall terminate on December 1, 2011, and this section shall be of no further effect.

Section 6d. Educational Incentive

Employees matriculating in a degree program shall have the option of taking accredited courses in pursuit of a degree in Fire Science / Fire Safety.

Effective July 1, 2013 members will be paid up to one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) per fiscal year after the successful completion of the course with a grade of "B" or above and proof of payment by the employee. Payment is for tuition only; no time off will be given to attend classes associated with this section.

Effective July 1, 2014 members will be paid up to one thousand two hundred and fifty dollars (\$1,250.00) per fiscal year after the successful completion of the course with a grade of "B" or above and proof of payment by the employee. Payment is for tuition only; no time off will be given to attend classes associated with this section.

Section 7. Call-Back Pay

All employees, except the Chief of the Department, who are called back to duty shall be compensated for at least two (2) hours at the overtime rate of pay as set forth in Section 6 above.

Section 8. Standby

Any employee who is required to stand by at the request of any person in authority in the Fire Department shall be compensated for such time whether or not he/she is required to actually return to the fire station. Such time shall be computed at the straight time rate of pay.

Section 9. Paid Holidays

The following holidays shall be paid holidays for all members of the Narragansett Fire Department:

New Year's Day
Martin Luther King's Birthday
Washington's Birthday
Easter Sunday
Memorial Day
Fourth of July
V.J. Day (2nd Monday in August)

Labor Day
Columbus Day
Armistice Day
Thanksgiving Day
Christmas Eve (1/2 Day)
Christmas Day
New Year's Eve (1/2 Day)

In addition to the foregoing holidays, employees covered by this Agreement shall be entitled to holiday pay for any other day declared a holiday by the Town Council. Holiday pay shall be one-fifth (1/5) of the employee's regular rate of pay and shall be paid to each employee over and above his/her regular rate of pay whether he/she works the holiday or not. In determining one-half (1/2) day holidays they shall be considered as 4.2 hours. If a fire fighter is required to work on any of the foregoing named holidays as part of his/her regular work week, then such fire fighters shall be paid in addition to all other benefits he/she may have under the contract between the parties an additional one-half (1/2) holiday for work on the foregoing named holidays.

Section 10. Vacations

A. All employees of the Narragansett Fire Department shall be entitled to such vacations as set forth in this section.

- Upon completion of one (1) year of service and up to five (5) years of service, employees shall be entitled to twelve (12) working days of vacation.
- Upon completion of five (5) years of service and up to ten (10) years of service, employees shall be entitled to fifteen (15) working days of vacation.
- Upon completion of ten (10) years of service and up to fifteen (15) years of service, employees shall be entitled to eighteen (18) working days of vacation.
- Upon completion of fifteen (15) years of service, employees shall be entitled to eighteen (18) working days of vacation plus one (1) additional working day per year for each full year over fifteen (15); up to a maximum of twenty-five (25) days.
- B. Vacations shall be scheduled during the entire twelve (12) month period of this contract. The vacation list shall be posted January 1st of each and every year for the entire year. All vacations must be selected by December 31, of each contract year for the following calendar year. Vacation selections may be changed during the calendar year with ninety-six (96) hour notice in advance of their use.
- C. Vacations shall be granted individually according to rank and time in rank and then according to seniority in the Department; there shall be allowed a maximum of four (4) employees on vacation on each platoon at all times pursuant to earned vacation schedule. Any vacation leave above two (2) on any scheduled day or night shift shall be subject to the provisions of Article III Section 15 6b.
- D. For the purpose of determining seniority in the Department for vacations, such shall be based upon the length of continuous service the employee has in the Narragansett Fire Department beginning with his/her latest term of employment in the Narragansett Fire Department.
- E. The vacation schedule for the Fire Prevention Officer (if any) and the Secretary of the Department shall be as follows:
 - Upon completion of one (1) year of two (2) weeks with service and up to five (5) years pay of service
 - Upon completion of five (5) years three (3) weeks of service and up to ten (10) years with pay of service
 - Upon completion of ten (10) years four (4) weeks with of service and up to fifteen (15) pay years of service

- Upon completion of fifteen (15) years of service four (4) weeks with pay plus an additional day for each full year of service over fifteen (15) years up to a maximum of twenty-five (25) days.
- F. Any member shall be allowed to carry over a maximum of ten (10) vacation days from one calendar year to the next. At no time shall any member be entitled to more than ten (10) days over the current year's allotment.

Section 11. Leave

- A. All employees of the Narragansett Fire Department shall be entitled to sick leave at the rate of one and one-half (1-1/2) days per month cumulative to one hundred eighty (180) days. The amount of sick leave available to each employee shall be posted at Headquarters monthly. The Town of Narragansett will buy back all credited accumulated sick days in excess of one hundred eighty (180) days at the rate of one-fifth (1/5) of the employee's present regular rate of pay for all credited accumulated sick days over one hundred eighty (180) during the first pay period of December on each year the maximum is achieved.
- B. Leave may also be granted in the case of a death of a relative other than the immediate family as defined below for a maximum of one (1) day to permit attendance at the funeral; provided that the leave shall first be approved by the Chief of the Fire Department. The foregoing leave shall not be charged against sick leave.
- C. Leave may also be granted for the maximum of four (4) days for a death in the immediate family. These four (4) days shall not be charged to sick leave. Immediate family is defined for the purpose of this Article to be: spouse, parents, children, brother, sister, grandparents, and including foster parents and step relatives of the same degree of kinship and mother and Father-in-law. Such leave requests shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- D. Upon retirement a member covered by this Agreement shall have the option to be compensated for (100%) percent of is/her accumulated sick leave if he/she requests a lump sum payment, or to be compensated for one-hundred (100%) percent of his/her sick leave if he/she elects to take this accumulated sick leave in time off prior to the day of retirement. The foregoing sentence shall not be construed to prohibit or prevent the Town from filling the position of such employee at any time from the notice of election to the employee's actual day of retirement. Any employee electing time off in lieu of payment for his/her sick leave will accumulate no further

sick leave time or vacation time after he/she has given notice of his/her election.

- E. Any member with ten (10) years or more of permanent status in the Fire Department who voluntarily terminates his/her employment with two (2) weeks notice to the Town, shall be compensated for fifty (50%) percent of his/her accumulated sick leave. Any member with less than ten (10) years of permanent status who voluntarily terminates his/her employment or any member, who is discharged for cause, shall not be eligible for compensation for any accumulated sick leave.
- F. The Chief of the Department and/or Administrative Authority of the Town of Narragansett reserves the right to demand a Physician's Certificate when and if said Administrative Authority feels that a member covered by this Agreement is abusing his/her sick leave.
- G. Personal leave of three (3) days with pay in any calendar year may be granted with the approval of the Chief of the Department. Such leave shall not be charged to sick leave. Twenty-four (24) hour notice shall be given in advance where possible. There shall be posted on the bulletin board a sheet showing the entitlement of each employee to his/her days of personal leave, and as said days are used, a notation shall be made on said list.
- H. Any employee on the Fire Department who does not use any of his/her sick leave allotment during the first six (6) months of the calendar year shall receive one (1) personal day above those mentioned in Article III, Section 11G during the next calendar year. Any employee who does not use any of his/her sick leave allotment during the last six (6) months of the calendar year shall receive one (1) personal day above those mentioned in Article III, Section 11G during the next calendar year. Said personal day shall conform to the provisions of Section 11G.
- I. Job related leave may be granted with pay to employees of the Fire Department at their request. Such leave shall be granted by the Chief or his/her designee at his/her discretion, but shall not be unjustly withheld.
- J. In any case where an employee dies or is placed on a disability pension, the Town shall pay to his/her estate or to him/her, as the case may be, all unused Vacation Leave. Payment, therefore, shall be at 1/5th the

employee's regular rate of pay at the time of his/her death or disability retirement.

Section 12. Sickness Or Injury

- A. Members of the Narragansett Fire Department who become sick or injured in the line of duty shall receive full salary while their incapacity exists or until they are able to return to duty or are pensioned.
- B. For sickness and injury in the line of duty, all medical and/or hospital expenses shall be paid by the Town of Narragansett.
- C. Subject to the approval of the Police Surgeon and Town Physician, the Town of Narragansett hereby agrees to pay all expenses for inoculation or immunization shots for employees covered by this Agreement and members of their family residing in their household when such becomes necessary as a result of said employee's exposure to contagious diseases when said employee has been exposed to said disease in the line of said employee's duties.
- D. All employees of the Narragansett Fire Department shall have the option to be tested for "HIV" at the time of their annual physical with the Town bearing the cost thereof.
- E. Any member who becomes injured or who contracts an illness in the line of duty and remains away from their regular employment for a period of eighteen (18) months shall at the expiration of eighteen (18) months return to duty within thirty (30) days thereafter, or shall be deemed physically unfit for duty and, therefore, unable to return to his/her respective duties and, therefore, retired in accordance with the provisions of Article IV, Section 2 of the current collective bargaining agreement. In the case of an employee who is on leave status under this section who found, within a reasonable degree of medical certainty, to have reached maximum medical improvement by either the member's treating physician or one appointed by the Town, then that member shall be immediately retired in accordance with the provisions of Article IV Section 2 of the current collective bargaining agreement. This paragraph shall not reduce or increase in any way the time period of eighteen (18) months and thirty (30) days as set forth above.

Section 13. Clothing Allowance

The Town of Narragansett shall continue to supply and replace the following clothing to each employee of the Fire Department for fiscal year commencing July 1, 1988:

- 2--Sets of station/work uniforms, issued annually
 (2 shirts, long or short sleeve)(2 pairs of trousers)
- 1--Uniform cap
- 1--Approved type Cairns helmet with earflaps and protective eye shield
- 1--Pair of collar buttons
- 1--Pair of gloves (Fire Fighter approved type)
- 1--Rescue coat with Scotchlite trim and removable liners for year round use
- 1--Pair of short boots to be worn with above pants, top grade, steel toe and midsole
- 1--Pair of boots, same as above, only regular length
- 1--Dress blue uniform, coat and pants, white shirt (long or short sleeve). This is to be issued after completion of one (1) year of service and permanent appointment.
- 1--Pair of Black Shoes (Knapp Brand or Equal)
- 1--Blue Cardigan Sweater

Effective July 1, 1990 any new issue or replacement gear shall meet the following requirements:

- 1--Hat Badge Blackinton or equal Style#127S;
- 1 breast badge, Blackinton or equal Style #293S
- 1 Reeves I.D. Plate with name imprinted on same
- 1-"Globe" brand Firefighting coat with an outer shell of fire retardant material equal to "Nomex"; with removable liner; it also shall have high visibility Scotchlite trim approximately 2-1/2 to 3 inches wide
- 1--"Globe" brand Firefighting bunker pants equal to above coat with removable liner and suspenders The above turn out gear and rescue gear used in firefighting and rescue work shall meet "N.F.P.A." and "OSHA" standards.

The above gear shall also be proportional to fit each individual fire fighter. The "Lion" brand uniform, or its equivalent, with joint consent of the Union and Fire Chief, shall be provided for replacement. Upon change of style or design of the work clothes, each member shall be furnished with four (4) complete sets of the new station uniform. Additionally, each new employee shall be furnished with four (4) complete sets of the current station uniform in effect at the time of his/her starting date.

Effective July 1,2000 any new issue or replacement gear shall meet the following requirements:

2 Sets of station work uniforms, issued annually. (2-NFPA approved) shirts, Lion Brand L-420 60Z. NFPA compliant

- cotton Polo shirt (Navy) long or short sleeve) with embroidered department logo and embroidered officer collar emblems.
- 2 pair of NFPA approved trousers (Navy) the initial issuance of polo style shirts shall be four (4) in number. The Secretary of the Department shall be exempt from the requirements set forth above.

The Town of Narragansett shall continue to pay for the cleaning of the same as is presently done and further agrees to replace or repair all other personal property normally worn by fire fighters in their regular duties whenever the same are destroyed or damaged in the course of said employee's duties. The replacement of gear, any of the foregoing articles which are lost, stolen, damaged, or otherwise rendered unserviceable, shall be ordered within fifteen (15) working days upon notification in writing to the Chief of the Department.

Section 14. Health And Welfare

All employees of the Narragansett Fire Department shall be covered by the Blue Cross Plan "100" and Physician's Service Plan (semi-private), and Major Medical with a limit of One Million (\$1,000,000.00) Dollars, Student Rider Age 25, SCRIP Rider and Vision Care. Effective upon execution of this Agreement said plan shall also include the following riders: "Managed Care", Deductible of One-Hundred (\$100.00) Dollars on Major Medical, and Emergency Room Co-Pay of Twenty-Five (\$25.00) Dollars.

The expense of these plans is to be borne by the Town of Narragansett. The plans referred to shall cover all members of the employee's immediate family. Retired members shall be allowed to continue in said plans provided such retired members pay the full cost thereof. Any employee of the Narragansett Fire Department who retired before July 1, 1983 shall receive one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) annually towards their medical plans. Such annual allotments shall terminate upon death of the retiree.

Effective 7/1/86 employees who are retired because of job connected incapacity shall continue to receive the present medical insurance plan which coverage shall include their spouse with the Town paying the full cost thereof.

Effective 7/1/95 employees who are retired because of job connected incapacity shall continue to receive the present medical insurance plan which coverage shall include their spouse or dependent family (as long as needed) with the Town paying the full cost thereof. Employees, who retire on or

after 7/1/87, shall continue to receive the present medical insurance plan which coverage shall include their spouse with the Town paying the full cost thereof. Medical health insurance shall mean the same health insurance provided for members of the Fire Department. The Town shall provide and pay for Delta Dental Level 1, Level 2, and Level 4 for each employee covered by this Agreement. During the term of this Agreement, if any employees of other bargaining units within the Town of Narragansett receive additional medical coverage other than those provided for in this Agreement, the Town shall grant the same to members of Local 1589.

Any employee who is killed in the line of duty, his/her spouse shall continue to receive medical insurance plan individual or family as may be needed; the Town paying the full cost thereof.

Effective on July 1, 1996 upon presentation of proof of alternative health care coverage or duplicate coverage, employees eligible for paid health care insurance under this Agreement may choose not to be covered under the Town's group health insurance policies. Eligible employees enrolled in a family plan making this choice shall receive fifty percent (50%) of the Town's cost for family plan coverage for each full contract year in which they are not covered for family coverage and those dropping individual coverage, the compensation shall be fifty percent (50%) of the Town's cost for individual coverage for each full contract year of noncoverage by a Town For each year in which the employee opts out under this provision, he/she shall receive no coverage pursuant to this Section. The employee reserves the right to opt back into the plan at any time. Payments to employees under this provision shall be made quarterly, in arrears. employee has opted back into Town coverage during the course of a contract year, he/she shall be entitled to pro rata payment under this Section for Payment by the Town shall be based upon the cost to the Town of the plan the employee was enrolled in prior to opting out. employees must notify the Town of their election no later than June 30th of each contract year.

Effective July 1, 2001 the basic healthcare plan for all employees shall be Blue Cross "Coast to Coast" coverage, as listed in exhibit "A" attached to this Collective Bargaining Agreement. Those members in other healthcare plans currently provided by the Town shall be allowed to remain in those plans, but once the member chooses to change to "Coast to Coast", the

member may not change back to any other coverage without paying the difference between premiums.

Effective July 1, 2001, retirees shall, upon attaining the age of 65, be enrolled in Blue Cross Plan 65 w/Regulation 46 and Major Medical, along with Medicare Part B prescription drugs, etc.) with an additional policy to be provided for the spouse, if needed ("Medicare Supplements"). This coverage shall be totally paid for by the Town. The Town, upon submission of proof of enrollment, in June and December of each year shall reimburse the Part B Medicare cost to retiree's.

The Town will not be required to pay for the above described Medicare Supplements to members who retire on or after January 1, 2011.

Effective the first full pay period after January 1, 2005 all active duty members will pay an eighteen dollars (\$18.00), cost sharing contribution, on a pre-tax basis, applied to the healthcare premium portion of healthcare only, per week. Retirees will not be required to contribute at any time.

Effective the first full pay period after January 1, 2008 all active duty members will pay an nineteen dollars (\$19.00), cost sharing contribution, on a pre-tax basis, applied to the healthcare premium portion of healthcare only, per week. Retirees will not be required to contribute at any time.

Effective January 1, 2005 all members currently enrolled in BCBSRI "Classic" will be enrolled in Blue Cross "Coast to Coast", as listed in exhibit "A" attached to this Collective Bargaining Agreement.

Effective January 1, 2005 the emergency room co-pay shall be increased from twenty-five (\$25.00) dollars to one-hundred (\$100.00) dollars for all plans.

Effective October 2, 2010 all active duty members will pay an annual contribution of 20% of the cost of health insurance.

Members who retire on or after January 1, 2011 will be required to pay, towards the cost of health insurance, an annual contribution equal to the same rate as when they were employed by the Town.

Effective January 1, 2011 all members retiring after said date will be required to demonstrate to the Town that they are not eligible for equivalent alternative health coverage. If they are eligible for equivalent alternative health coverage then the Town shall not be required to provide health coverage. Alternative coverage includes, but is not limited to, coverage available though subsequent employment, a spouse or Medicare.

Effective January 1, 2014 all active duty members will pay an annual contribution of 20% of the cost of dental insurance.

Section 15. Manpower

A. Guidelines for filling vacancies and details in the permanent ranks of the Narragansett Fire Department:

Types of Hiring Situations:

Normal - pre-planned vacancies including vacations, comp. leave, personal, sick leave, IOD, and other necessary hiring that is needed prior to the start of the shift to be filled.

Emergency - vacancies that occur after a shift has started that are unexpected "i.e. call-backs for fires, illness during a shift, injuries, and when a person calls in sick", so that hiring has to be done after the shift has started.

Details and Partial Shifts -would include any additional manpower needed for special functions. (I.e. football games, fireworks, fire watch, etc. These details are not rank specific). Partial shifts (less than ten (10) hours comp. time) in a particular grade will also be included in this definition.

Methodology

1. In carrying out the hiring of permanent employees to fill normal vacancies or details the on-call platoon shall be used first, then the platoon next due back, finally the platoon on its ninety-six (96) hours off. All overtime shall be filled strictly by rotation only. A current list of all shift rotations shall be maintained at Station 1 and shall only be modified by the Shift Captains. The Shift Captain or Acting Shift Captain shall do all hiring for any vacancy unless they are unavailable due to response to an alarm. In that event, the Shift Captain shall designate one individual to fill only those vacancies requiring immediate attention. Captains will contact personnel by telephone, answering machine message, and/or pager giving reasonable time to respond.

Vacancy (day)	On-Call	Next back	Ninety-six off
A	В	D	С

_	B	C_	A	D
	С	D	В	A
	D	А	С	В

Vacancy (night)	On-Call	Next back	Ninety-six off
A	D	C	В
В	A	D	С
C	В	A	D
D	С	В	A

- 2. Overtime shall be offered by seniority in grade on a rotational basis on each shift, initially by seniority commencing at the annual shift change. When a member accepts overtime, that person shall be rotated to the bottom of that platoon's overtime list in the grade of said member. If a member declines, is unreachable or is ordered back to duty, that member would not be rotated. The next member in succession shall be offered the overtime position. The aforementioned sequence shall be followed until the vacancy is filled.
- 3. All positions in each rank shall be offered to members of that rank following the aforementioned sequence. All response shall be voluntary. In the absence of an available Captain on any work shift, the senior on-duty Lieutenant shall be compensated at the Captain's rate of pay. In the absence of two available Lieutenants on any work shift, the senior on-duty Private shall be compensated at the Lieutenant's rate of pay. There shall be no acting officers in any grade for which an officer of that rank makes him or herself available.
- 4. There shall be a minimum of one officer (Captain or Lieutenant) on duty at all times. The junior off duty Lieutenant shall be ordered back to duty for a vacancy in the officers ranks if all off duty officers pass on the vacancy.
- 5. When all permanent off-duty personnel pass on the vacancy, a qualified Probationary Private or Call-firefighter of Narragansett Fire Department may be asked.
- 6. a. If all permanent personnel, qualified Probationary Privates and all qualified call-firefighters pass on the vacancy, the junior off-duty member shall be ordered back to duty for said vacancy.
- b. Any vacation vacancy above two (2) shall not be subject to an order back.
- 7. Partial shifts shall be filled in the same manner as stated in items 1 through 6. However, there shall be a separate rotation list by grade for each shift to be used for less than full shift vacancies.
- 8. Any hours worked, as a holdover will not be charged as having worked "normal" overtime.

9. No member shall work his or her own scheduled leave.

Under no circumstances shall the Town be obligated to equalize the amount of overtime that each member receives as an employee of the Town. If a member declines an offer of overtime for any reason, the member shall have no right to claim that he or she is entitled to be caught up on overtime and otherwise receive the same amount of overtime as other members.

Hiring in Emergency situations will be done in the same fashion as above with the exception that the vacancy is expected to be filled in a much shorter time span (as soon as possible). When hiring for Details (not rank specific) the on-call platoon shall be used first, then the platoon next due back, finally the platoon on its ninety-six (96) hours off. Hiring shall be done on a rotational basis to include Captains, Lieutenants, and Privates. The date and abbreviation for the detail worked shall be written into the block next to the member's name.

- B. The ambulance and/or rescue operated by the Narragansett Fire Department shall respond to all calls with two (2) qualified persons on the unit.
- C. There shall be a minimum of four (4) permanent employees (excluding the Chief) on duty on each platoon at Station No.1 at all times. Effective on or before 1 July 1991, there shall be a minimum of eight (8) permanent employees (excluding the Chief, Secretary, and Fire Prevention Officer) on duty on each platoon of the Narragansett Fire Department. Effective July 1, 2005 this minimum shall consist of one (1) Fire Captain, three (3) Lieutenants, and four (4) Privates positions. There shall be a minimum of (4) permanent employees (excluding the Chief, Secretary, Prevention Officer) on duty on each platoon at Station #1 at all times. There shall be a minimum of two (2) permanent employees (excluding the Chief, Secretary, and Fire Prevention Officer) on duty on each platoon at Station #2 There shall be a minimum of two (2) permanent employees at all times. (excluding the Chief, Secretary, and Fire Prevention Officer) on duty on each platoon at Station #3 at all times. In the event that sufficient permanent or probationary employees are unavailable after a reasonable effort to obtain them, qualified volunteers may be used. In carrying out the foregoing provision, the on-call platoon shall be used first, and then the next back platoon, and lastly the platoon on its' ninety-six (96) hours off. Such

response shall be voluntary. When no permanent or call personnel are available, the junior off duty permanent employee may be ordered back to duty.

- D. The Fire Prevention Officer (if any) shall respond to fires during his/her tour of duty, but shall not be counted as part of any line complement. The Department may, but shall not be required to, fill a temporary vacancy in the rank of Fire Prevention Officer (if any).
- E. The minimum manning requirements set forth in the preceding paragraphs in this Section 15 shall be inapplicable whenever an unscheduled absence occurs within (2) hours prior to the end of a shift unless the Chief of the Department, or the acting Chief determines that a replacement is necessary for the absent employee.
- F. As soon as practicable after March 1, 2001, there shall be an Emergency Medical Services Coordinator responsible for the administrative functions pertaining to rescue services. This shall be an additional duty to be compensated at the overtime rate of pay at said coordinators rank, beyond the employees normal work schedule. Said payment of overtime shall not exceed four (4) hours in any given pay period, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties. The job description for this position shall be negotiated prior to the implementation of the position by Local 1589, IAFF and the Director of Public Safety, in concert with the Fire Chief. The EMS coordinators position shall not supersede the shift Captains', or the Chief of the Department's authority at any time. All training shall be coordinated with the shift Captains.

The EMS coordinator will submit a weekly report on Monday morning, which will outline the activities done in the past week, and the hours spent in that position for that week. All proposals for training, purchases, and operating procedures shall be submitted to the Chief of the Department for his approval or disapproval prior to implementation. The Chief of the Department will review and approve or reject all submissions. There will be a monthly review and evaluation between the Chief of the Department and the EMS coordinator in regards to the objectives of said position. The review shall also include a review of the prior months activities and the activities for the next month.

Section 16. Civic Details

All special details which by State Law or Town Ordinance require the presence of a fire fighter shall be performed by permanent uniformed employees of the Narragansett Fire Department. Non-permanent employees (call persons) shall not be used unless there are no permanent uniformed employees available. Detail pay shall be at the rate of time and one-half the employee's straight time rate of pay as a permanent uniformed employee, except in those cases which are details for a bona fide charitable (non-profit) organization, in which case the rate of pay shall be the pay applicable to call persons.

Section 17. Legal Assistance And Indemnification

In the event any employee covered by this Agreement is sued in any civil proceedings as a result of actions performed by said employee in the performance of his/her duty as an employee of the Narragansett Fire Department, the Town of Narragansett agrees to provide such employee with all necessary legal assistance and further agrees to pay any judgment rendered against such employee in any such proceedings. This Section shall not apply to conduct of any employee which is willful, deliberate or beyond the scope of his/her employment.

Section 18. Reimbursement Of Pay And Medical Expenses

In any case where an employee covered by this Agreement receives any payment of Workmen's Compensation Benefits and receives from the Town sick pay benefits at the same time, he/she shall reimburse the Town in the amount of such Workmen's Compensation Benefits. Each employee covered by this Agreement agrees that in the event of injuries suffered while in the employ of another employer, he/she shall use the medical insurance coverage of such employer, if any, before using the medical insurance coverage provided by the Town of Narragansett.

Section 19. Hearing Examination

The Town of Narragansett hereby agrees to allow all employees on the Department to have an initial medical examination pertaining to their hearing. After said initial examination, each employee shall be retested each calendar year, the Town paying the full cost thereof.

Section 20. Military Leave

A. Any regular employee who is called into active service in the Armed Forces of the United States, shall be given a leave of absence for, and will accumulate seniority during such period of service not to exceed four (4) years or the duration of the emergency, whichever is longer. Upon termination of such service he/she will be re-employed at the rate of pay prevailing for work which he/she is assigned to at the time of his/her reemployment, provided, however, that he/she has not been dishonorably discharged, he/she is physically, mentally and emotionally able to perform such work, and he/she makes written application for rein statement within ninety (90) days after discharge.

B. Any employee required to be absent from work because of Armed Forces training or service shall receive the difference in pay for work time missed between his/her regular rate of pay and the pay received for such Armed Forces service. This shall be computed as the difference between the regular rate of pay and the Armed Forces base pay as determined on a week for week basis; i.e., the total base pay received from the Armed Forces for the entire period subtracted from the pay received, but not earned from the Town. Daily adjustments shall not be made. Proof of required service and of pay received may be requested by the Director.

ARTICLE IV

Section 1. Salaries

A. Salaries for employees in the Narragansett Fire Department shall be as follows:

Effective July 1, 2013 all members base salary shall be increased by 2.25%

	Weekly
Fire Prevention Officer/Captain	\$1260.40
Captains	\$1205.40
Lieutenants	\$1076.46
Privates	\$978.60
Probationary Privates (First Year)	\$771.54
Secretary of the Department	\$707.35

Effective July 1, 2014 all members base salary shall be increased by 2.50%

	Weekly
Fire Prevention Officer/Captain	\$1292.00
Captains	\$1235.64
Lieutenants	\$1103.34
Privates	\$1002.96
Probationary Privates (First Year)	\$790.86
Secretary of the Department	\$725.27
Secretary of the Department (First 6 Months)	\$627.55

Effective July 1, 2015 all members base salary shall be increased by 2.50%

	Weekly
Fire Prevention Officer/Captain	\$1324.40
Captains	\$1266.72
Lieutenants	\$1131.06
Privates	\$1028.16
Probationary Privates (First Year)	\$810.60
Secretary of the Department	\$743.40
Secretary of the Department (First 6 Months)	\$643.30

The following definitions shall be applicable throughout this contract for determining rates of pay:

- 1. Weekly base salary the starting point to be used for determining all calculations in regards to rate of pay, defined as "salaries" in Article IV Section 1.
- 2. Straight time rate of pay as determined by the USDOL (weekly base salary + incentive + longevity \ 42 hours = straight time rate of
- 3. Regular rate of pay as determined by USDOL (weekly base salary + incentive + longevity = regular rate of pay)

B. Longevity shall be for all permanent employees of the Narragansett Fire Department who have more than three (3) years of service with the Department. They shall receive longevity at the increment rates prescribed in the Longevity Table. The Weekly Longevity Increment is a percentage of weekly base salary. Longevity Pay shall be added to their weekly base salary up to a maximum of thirty (30) years. The Longevity Table is as follows:

Years of Service Completed	Weekly Longevity Increment	Years of Service Completed	Weekly Longevity Increment
3	1.0%	17	8.0%
4	1.5%	18	8.5%
5	2.0%	19	9.0%
6	2.5%	20	9.5%
7	3.0%	21	10.0%
8	3.5%	22	10.5%
9	4.0%	23	11.0%
10	4.5%	24	11.5%
11	5.0%	25	12.0%
12	5.5%	26	12.5%
13	6.0%	27	13.0%
14	6.5%	28	13.5%
15	7.0%	29	14.0%
16	7.5%	30	14.5%

- C. Narragansett Fire Fighters who have attained and continue to maintain the Rhode Island State EMT-C Certification shall receive an additional five (5%) percent added to their weekly salary.
- D. Effective July 1, 2008 the senior employee assigned to rescue shall be the officer in charge and shall receive an additional fourteen (14) dollars for each day and fifteen (15) dollars for each night, in addition, the employee assigned to drive the rescue shall receive an additional ten (10) dollars for each day and eleven (11) dollars for each night.

Section 2. Pension

A. The Town of Narragansett shall provide a pension under Chapter CCCLIII of the Town Ordinances as enacted on August 29, 1977 for all employees covered by this Agreement; the benefits of which are set forth in said Ordinance as of the date of enactment, except as the same may be hereinafter amended.

B. All employees covered by this Agreement shall pay eight (8%)percent of their regular rate of pay as a contribution to the pension plan referred to in Paragraph "A".

Effective the first full pay period of July, 2005, all employees covered by this Agreement shall contribute eight and a half (8.5%) percent of their regular rate of pay (regular pay rate = weekly base salary + incentive + longevity) and holiday pay as a contribution to the pension plan referred to in Paragraph "A". The pension ordinance will be amended to include these calculations for the employee. For example, if an employee were to receive during a calendar year a salary (Salary + incentive + longevity) of \$10,000.00, Holiday pay of \$1000.00 than his/her total computation for pension purposes for that calendar year would be \$11,000.00. The employee's contribution to the pension fund would be 8.5% of \$11,000.00, or \$935.00.

Effective October 2, 2010 all employees covered by this Agreement shall contribute nine (9%) percent of their regular rate of pay (regular pay rate = weekly base salary + incentive + longevity) and holiday pay as a contribution to the pension plan referred to in Paragraph "A". The pension ordinance will be amended to include these calculations for the employee.

Effective December 1, 2011 all employees covered by this Agreement shall contribute nine and one-half (9.5%) percent of their regular rate of pay (regular pay rate = weekly base salary + incentive + longevity) and holiday pay as a contribution to the pension plan referred to in Paragraph "A". The pension ordinance will be amended to include these calculations for the employee.

Effective January 1, 2013 all employees covered by this Agreement shall contribute ten (10%) percent of their regular rate of pay (regular pay rate = weekly base salary + incentive + longevity) and holiday pay as a contribution to the pension plan referred to in Paragraph "A". The pension ordinance will be amended to include these calculations for the employee.

Effective July 1, 2014 all employees covered by this Agreement shall contribute ten and one-half (10.5%) percent of their regular rate of pay (regular pay rate = weekly base salary + incentive + longevity) and holiday pay as a contribution to the pension plan referred to in Paragraph "A". The

pension ordinance will be amended to include these calculations for the employee.

Effective July 1, 2015 all employees covered by this Agreement shall contribute eleven (11%) percent of their regular rate of pay (regular pay rate = weekly base salary + incentive + longevity) and holiday pay as a contribution to the pension plan referred to in Paragraph "A". The pension ordinance will be amended to include these calculations for the employee.

- C. Town Ordinance CCCLIII will be amended by allowing Narragansett Fire Fighters to retire after the completion of twenty-five (25) years of service, regardless of age. Effective on July 1, 1991 Town Ordinance CCCLIII will be amended by allowing Narragansett Fire Fighters to retire after the completion of twenty (20) years of service, regardless of age.
- D. Town Ordinance CCCLIII will be further amended so as to provide the same disability retirement benefits for occupational causes as is currently provided for municipal workers (Section 8,a, ii of Chapter CCCLIII).
- E. Effective July 1, 2002 all employees who retire on or after July 1, 2002 will receive a cost of living allowance. The Town of Narragansett Ordinance CCCLIII will be amended to provide a cost of living allowance (COLA) as follows:

Upon attainment of age 52, a retiree who retires on or after July 1, 2002 will upon July 1st of that year, receive a COLA equal to a three percent (3%) increase over the prior years pension.

For example, a qualified retiree, upon retirement receives a pension stipend of \$10,000.00. On July $1^{\rm st}$ of the year of age attainment, this stipend would be increased to \$10,300.00. On the next July $1^{\rm st}$ it would increase to \$10,609.00 and on the next July $1^{\rm st}$ to \$10,927.27 and so on.

The first payment shall be made upon July 1st of the year in which a qualified retiree attains the age of 52 and shall be paid in a similar manner in each subsequent anniversary.

Effective July 1, 2013, the cost of living allowance will be suspended for eight (8) years ending June 30, 2021.

Effective July 1, 2015 the COLA for employees hired before July 1, 2013 shall be a three (3%) percent simple COLA.

F. The Town of Narragansett shall provide and pay for a group term life insurance policy in the amount of Twenty Five Thousand Dollars (\$25,000.00) on the life of each employee covered by this Agreement, which policy shall be part of the pension plan covering employees of the Narragansett Fire Department.

Effective July 1, 1995 the Town of Narragansett shall provide and pay for a group term life insurance policy in the amount of Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) on the life of each employee covered by this Agreement, which policy shall be part of the pension plan covering employees of the Narragansett Fire Department.

- G. Employees covered under this agreement shall have the option to buy back, subject to the existing rules and requirements, one (1) to four (4) years of active military service served with an honorable discharge. Said military time shall be consecutive and shall be verified by the submission of the employees DD214 form.
- H. Effective retroactively to the First full Pay Period in July 2004, Holiday pay, sick leave buy-back pay, and compensation leave buy-back pay will be recalculated and adjusted to reflect the correct manner of calculations as provided for by the USDOL (regular rate of pay = weekly base salary + incentive + longevity). The members will not be required to contribute any additional funds to the pension plan for the adjustments for the first full pay period of July, 2004 through the first full pay period of July, 2005.

For example, an employee will have his/her incentive and longevity for the period of the first full pay period after July 1,2004 through the first full pay period after July 1,2005 included into their annual base salary for the same time period and divided by 52 weeks to determine their weekly base salary. This weekly base salary will then be divided by the number of hours that the employee is contractually scheduled to work in a week to determine their straight time rate of pay. This rate will then be multiplied by the holiday hours, sick leave buyback pay, and compensation leave buy-back pay credited to that employee for that same period. The rate the employee was originally paid during that period for Holiday pay, sick leave buy-back pay,

and compensation leave buy-back pay will then be subtracted from this corrected amount and the employee will receive the difference.

- I. Members of Local 1589 who have retired since February 1,2000, will have their pension annuity recalculated to reflect the correct manner of calculation as provided for by the USDOL (regular rate of pay = weekly base salary + incentive + longevity). The pension ordinance will be amended to reflect this correction for the employee. For example, a qualified retiree had received an additional \$500.00 for incentive and \$500.00 for longevity after the first full pay period of February 1,2000 and prior to his/her final date of retirement. This \$1000.00 will now be factored into the retirees' calculations for pension purposes.
- J. Effective July 1st, 2004, Holiday pay will be included when calculating an employee's pension benefit. The pension ordinance will be amended to include these calculations for the employee.

For example, if an employee were to receive during a calendar year a salary (Salary + incentive + longevity) of \$10,000.00, Holiday pay of \$1000.00 than his/her total computation for pension purposes for that calendar year would be \$11,000.00.

All firefighters hired on or after July 1, 2013 will be allowed to retire after the completion of twenty-five (25) years of service, regardless of age. The Town pension ordinance will be amended to calculate the pension accrual rate for years of service for Narragansett Firefighters hired on or after July 1, 2013 at two (2%) per year and shall also be amended to provide that the COLA shall be a three (3%) percent simple COLA.

Any severance pay due to a retiring fire fighter under the CBA such as sick accrual, vacation accrual, etc. shall be paid according to the provision set forth in the current collective bargaining agreement regardless of when the fire fighter elects to retire.

ARTICLE V

Section 1. Bid System

A. Effective the first (1st) Monday after January 1, 1989, all present positions on the Narragansett Fire Department shall be bid for by qualified employees except for the position of Fire Prevention and Secretary. The bid shall be held in each rank with seniority in each rank being the deciding factor and shall be completed by the first (1st) Monday after January 1ST

Each member of the Fire Department is locked into his respective group, station or division until such time as a vacancy occurs of equal rank, in which case a notice shall be posted notifying all concerned parties of the date, time and place of the upcoming bid. When a member is awarded an assignment due to the bid, his/her position immediately becomes open and will be filled by the same system during the same bidding session. Once a position is reached that no one bids for, the position is filled by the employee with the least amount of seniority (which shall include Probationary employees).

In addition to the vacancy bid, an annual bid shall be held during the first week of November each year for re-bidding of all positions. These transfers would go into effect the first (1st) Monday after January 1. When the bidding session is completed, the union shall within forty-eight (48) hours give to the Chief of the Department in writing a list of any and all transfers to be made. The Chief shall within fifteen (15) days of receipt of the list put the transfers into effect.

In the event the Town of Narragansett or the Chief of the Fire Department deems it necessary to permanently relocate any of the fire apparatus, it shall be decided by Local 1589 through the bid system, which members of the Fire Department shall fill any and all vacancies that arise. Once all the bidding in any case is completed and the transfers have been made, the officer in charge of each truck shall rotate the personnel assigned to that piece, to the different positions on that piece of apparatus, etc. Temporary positions or assignments on the rescue truck or other apparatus within a group shall be filled by seniority choice.

B. There shall be no less than one (1) Captain on each Platoon. There shall be no less than three (3) Lieutenants on each Platoon. There shall be no less than one (1) Fire Fighter EMT-C on each Platoon.

C. The Chief or his/her designee shall have the right to attend all bid sessions.

Section 2. Testing Of Aerial Devices

All aerial devices in the Narragansett Fire Department shall, on a yearly basis, be inspected and tested for structural integrity and safety through non-destructive test methods such as Ultrasonic and Magnaflux Testing by an independent testing company other than the original manufacturers. A copy of such test results shall be supplied to Local 1589.

ARTICLE VI

Section 1. Grievance Procedure

Alleged grievances of the members of Local 1589, International Association of Fire Fighters, AFL-CIO-CLC, in respect to wages, rates of pay, working conditions or other terms or conditions of employment arising under this contract or in connection with the interpretation thereof, or disciplinary action shall be handled in accordance with the following grievance procedure:

An individual having a grievance shall take the matter up with the Chief or Acting Chief of the Fire Department within ten (10) days of the employee's knowledge of said grievance. If the matter is not settled within five (5) working days of the Chief or Acting Chief, then the employee shall, in writing, bring such grievance to the attention of the Executive Committee of Local 1589. Said Executive Committee shall, within five (5) days of the receipt of the grievance, arrange for the employee to present his alleged grievance at a meeting of a majority of said Local's Executive Committee.

It shall be the responsibility of the Executive Committee to determine the justification of the grievance. If, in the judgment of the Executive Committee, the nature of the grievance justifies further action, it shall, through the President of Local 1589, bring the grievance to the attention of the Town Manager, in writing, who shall hold a hearing within fifteen (15) working days of the receipt of the written notice and shall render a decision thereon within ten (10) working days of the conclusion of the hearing.

The grievant and his/her representatives shall be entitled to appear in person at the grievant's expense. If the grievant is not satisfied with the decision of the Town Manager then said grievance may be brought to the attention of the Personnel Board of Appeals, in writing, and the Personnel Board of Appeals shall hold a hearing within fifteen (15) working days of receipt of written notice or at such time as a quorum can be obtained and shall render a decision thereon within ten (10) days of the conclusion of hearings. The grievant and his/her representatives shall be entitled to appear in person at the grievant's expense.

Either party, if dissatisfied with the decision of the Personnel Board of Appeals, may request that the grievance be processed to arbitration by a committee composed in the following manner: one person selected by the President of Local 1589; one person selected by the President of the Town Council. Both of the above selections shall be made within ten (10) days after receipt by the President of the Town Council of said written grievance. The two (2) members so selected shall, within ten (10) days thereafter, select a third disinterested person. If agreement cannot be reached on the third member within said ten (10) day period, then either Local 1589 or the Town of Narragansett, through the President of the Town Council, shall request the assignment of an arbitrator by the American Arbitration Association who shall act as the third member of the Arbitration Committee.

All costs and expenses of arbitration shall be shared equally by the parties hereto. In all cases involving a grievance which is submitted to the Arbitration Committee before referred to, the individual or individuals having the grievance shall be required to attend and present his grievance. Such individual or individuals shall further be entitled to be represented by legal counsel of his/her or their own choosing. The Arbitration Committee shall conclude its hearings and render its decision within thirty (30) days of the date of appointment of the third arbitrator. Any decision handed down by a majority of the Arbitration Committee shall be final and binding on the parties hereto.

The Arbitration Committee shall have no right to recommend amending, modify, nullify, ignore, add to, or subtract from the provisions of this Agreement. They shall only consider in making a decision with respect to the specific issues submitted, and shall have no authority to make a decision on any other grievance not so submitted to them. In addition to the foregoing procedure:

Local 1589 shall have the right to present a grievance on behalf of any employee covered by this Agreement, or on its own behalf, for any alleged violation of any of the terms, conditions or provisions of this Agreement. In any case where a grievance is brought by Local 1589, it shall be presented, in writing, to the Chief or Acting Chief of the Fire Department within thirty (30) days from the date of the occurrence of said alleged grievance. The Chief or Acting Chief of the Fire Department shall meet with the President and Executive Committee of Local 1589 within five (5) working days of the receipt of such notice of an alleged grievance.

In any case where a grievance is brought by Local 1589 directly to the Chief of the Fire Department, the procedure as herein before outlined with respect to individual grievances shall apply.

ARTICLE VII

Section 1. No Strike Clause

In consideration of the right of employees covered by this Agreement to a resolution of disputed questions under the Grievance Procedure herein before set forth, Local 1589, for itself and for all employees covered by this agreement, shall have it know that it agrees that no employee covered by this Agreement shall have any right to engage in any work stoppage, slowdown or strike and that if any unauthorized work stoppage, slowdown or strike shall take place, it will immediately notify such employee or employees so engaging in such unauthorized activities to cease and desist and shall publicly declare that such work stoppage, slowdown or strike is illegal and unauthorized.

Any employee engaging in any work stoppage, slowdown or strike shall be subject to immediate dismissal by the Town of Narragansett without any right to any of the benefits provided for under this Agreement.

ARTICLE VIII

Section 1. Duration Of Agreement

This agreement shall be for the term beginning July 1, 2013 and ending on June 30, 2016.

Section 2. Continuation Of Agreement

In the event a new contract is not executed prior to the expiration of the agreement, this agreement and all of its terms and conditions shall remain in full force and effect for a period of one (1) year at which time said Contract shall terminate and become no effect; provided however, that the foregoing shall not prohibit any provision in a new Contract from being retroactive to the first day of July 2016.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, The Town of Narragansett has caused this Agreement to be executed and its Corporation Seal to be affixed by James Callaghan, its Council President, thereunto duly authorized by the Town Council of the Town of Narragansett as of this day and year first above written, and Local 1589, International Association of Fire Fighters, AFL-CIO-CLC, has caused this Agreement to be signed by, Paul M. Bowe its President, there unto duly authorized as of the day and year first above written.

In the presence of:

LOCAL 1589, INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE FIGHTERS,

AFL /

Des United Descriptions

TOWN OF NARRAGANSETT, RI

Town Solicitor

Town Manager

Town of Narragansett Fire - Grp.# 5B97 Summary of HealthMate Coast to Coast July, 2001

	HealthMate
	Coast-to-Coast
	General Information
Coverage Levels	In network - Eligible services are covered in full, less any applicable co-payments, when you use BlueCard PPO Network providers. Members will not be billed for charges beyond the plan allowance. Out of network - Members may also choose to receive treatment outside the BlueCard PPO Network and still receive coverage at 80% of our allowance, less any deductibles and/or co-payments as noted below. Outpatient behavioral healthcare and chemical dependency services are covered at 50% of our allowance.
Participating Provider Network	With our BlueCard PPO Network, the member's Blue Cross card is recognized at any Blue Cross participating PPO provider nationwide. In most cases, claims are filed by the provider and paid based on the local plan's allowance; members will not be balance billed beyond applicable co-payments. The Preferred Blue network is Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Rhode Island's (BCBSRI) designated BlueCard PPO Network.
Pre-authorization	Authorization is obtained by providers who participate directly with BCBSRI. Members are responsible for obtaining pre-authorization when using other Blue Cross Plans' BlueCard PPO providers or non-network providers Benefits subject to pre-authorization are identified by an asterisk (*).
Annual Deductibles	No deductibles in network. Out of network - \$200 annual deductible per person (3 per family).
Out-of-pocket maximum	Out of network benefit increased to full coverage after annual maximum expense of \$3,000 per individual (3 per family). (The out-of-network deductible, behavioral healthcare/chemical dependency co-payments and office visits co-payments are not applicable to the out-of-pocket maximum.)
Lifetime maximums	Unlimited.
	Preventive & Outpatient Services
Office Visits (Personal Physician)	\$10 co-payment - includes annual physicals and well-baby visits.
Office Visits	\$10 co-payment (\$15 allergist & dermatologist) - includes routine and non-routine visits, annual gynecological
(Specialists)	exam. Pre-natal visits, pap smears and mammograms are covered in full.
Routine Eye Exams	\$10 co-payment - one routine exam per calendar year at network providers (medically necessary exams as needed).
Lab & X-Ray	100% coverage at network lab and x-ray facilities.
Outpatient Surgery*	100% coverage, includes ambulatory surgi-centers and outpatient surgery.
Prescriptions	Preferred Rx - 20% co-payment at any network pharmacy. Drugs purchased at non-network pharmacies are reimbursed at 50% of our allowance. Generics are required.
	Mail Service - Up to a three month supply for a 20% co-payment of most medications.
	Emergency and Urgent Care
Emergency Room	\$25 co-payment for treatment of a medical condition manifesting itself by acute symptoms of sufficient severity (including severe pain) such that a prudent layperson, could reasonably expect serious jeopardy to the health of the individual or, in the case of a pregnant woman, the health of the woman or her unborn child; serious impairment to bodily functions; or serious dysfunction of any bodily organ or part (co-payment waived if admitted:
Urgi-Centers	\$10 co-payment.
	Inpatient Services
Hospitalization*	100% coverage. Unlimited days of care in a semiprivate room. Includes medical/surgical & maternity care. Skilled nursing facility when medically necessary.
Inpatient Rehab Facility*	100% coverage. Limited to 45 days of care per calendar year.
Organ Transplant*	Transplant related benefits and services are coordinated through our Nurse Transplant Coordinator Coverage includes, but is not limited to: inpatient hospital and physician services.
	Behavioral Healthcare & Chemical Dependency
Inpatient Behavioral	100% coverage. 90 days per admission for serious behavioral illness.
Healthcare*	No coverage without pre-authorization.
Outpatient/Office Behavioral Healthcare	\$15 co-payment per individual session/\$10 co-payment per group session, up to 20 visits per calendar year

	HealthMate Coast-to-Coast
Inpatient Chemical Dependency*	100% coverage. Detoxification - 3 admissions per year or 21 days, whichever comes first. Rehabilitation - 30 days in any 12-month period; lifetime limit of 90 days per member. No coverage without pre-authorization.
Outpatient Chemical Dependency	\$15 co-payment per individual session/\$10 per group session. Limited to 30 hours per patient, 20 hours for family members, per 12-month period.
,	Additional Services
Physical, Speech & Occupational Therapy - Outpatient*	100% coverage in the outpatient hospital department following a hospital stay. 80% coverage in provider's office
Chiropractic Medicine	\$10 co-payment - limited to 12 visits per calendar year.
Private Duty Nursing* & Ambulance	80% coverage. Does not cover municipal, state, or air ambulances.
Durable Medical Equipment	80% coverage. No dollar maximum.
Home Health & Hospice Care*	100% coverage if received as part of an approved home care program (in lieu of hospitalization). 80% coverage if not received as part of an approved home care program. Includes doctor, nurse, home health aide visits and home infusion therapy.
Dependent Coverage	Spouse and unmarried dependent children through the end of the year in which they turn age 19 (or age 25 if a full-time student).
,	Customer Education & Intervention Strategies
Programs	Health Promotions and Health Management – Programs include identification, treatment, and prevention of various diseases (i.e. asthma, diabetes), pre-natal education, reminder letters for preventative health (i.e. mammography, pap tests, prostate screening). Advantage Program – Discount programs on health clubs, related products, and services. Freedom Advantage – Offers discounts on auto and home insurance.
	Good Health Benefit – worksite wellness program, customized to your workforce (smoking cessation, weight reduction, stress management, etc).